# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 73943 CASE NO. 74,583

FILED
SID J. WHITE
JAN 28 1991

By Deputy Clerk

DAN EDWARD ROUTLY,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

MARTIN J. McCLAIN Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1978, Dan Routly moved with his girlfriend, Colleen O'Brien, from Michigan to Florida. Shortly thereafter problems with the relationship surfaced, and Ms. O'Brien decided to leave Mr. Routly. She thereupon met an older man, Anthony Bockini, who offered to assist her in returning to Michigan. Having moved in with Bockini, O'Brien became afraid of him and returned to Mr. Routly, only to decide once again to leave Mr. Routly and return to Bockini. Bockini was subsequently shot and killed. At trial, Ms. O'Brien claimed Mr. Routly killed Bockini. However, Mr. Routly testified that Ms. O'Brien killed Bockini, told Mr. Routly about it afterwards, and sought his help in leaving Florida.

Mr. Routly was arrested in Flint, Michigan, at 12:45 a.m. on December 5, 1979, on a charge of <a href="second-degree">second-degree</a> murder. Mr. Routly, not wanting to see a pregnant O'Brien convicted of the murder, gave a statement implicating himself to the authorities. He was furthermore promised by the agents who met with him that if he waived extradition he would be prosecuted for second degree murder and that he would serve fifteen to twenty years for the crime. At that point he, without counsel, waived extradition. He was immediately transported to the Marion County Jail in Ocala, Florida. The information charging second degree murder was not filed until 4:12 p.m. on December 5, 1979. On December 6, 1979, the Marion County Circuit Court ordered that the Grand Jury be recalled to consider Mr. Routly's indictment. On December 18, 1979, the reconvened Grand Jury indicted Mr. Routly on a charge of first-degree murder to which Mr. Routly entered a not guilty plea.

Mr. Routly's trial began on July 14, 1980, and on July 18, 1980, the jury returned a verdict of guilty of first degree murder. The only alleged witness to the murder was O'Brien, without whose testimony the State could not have secured a first degree murder conviction. O'Brien was the principle witness at

trial. Her testimony was accepted by a jury who was deprived of the facts behind the deal struck between herself and the State. Mr. Routly testified during the guilt-innocence phase of his trial (R. 1077-1084). In fact, the case was one of credibility; whether to believe Ms. O'Brien or Mr. Routly.

On July 18, 1980, the jury returned an advisory sentence of life imprisonment. A motion for new trial was filed on July 24, 1980, and, after hearing on August 20, 1980, the motion for a new trial was denied. On November 24, 1980, the circuit court overrode the jury's recommendation of life and sentenced Mr. Routly to death. This Court affirmed on direct appeal. Routly v. State, 440 So. 2d 1257 (Fla. 1983).

A timely Rule 3.850 motion was filed on January 2, 1987, with request for leave to amend. The amendment to that motion was filed on June 22, 1987. Mr. Routly's death warrant was signed on April 21, 1988 and an Emergency Application for Stay of Execution was filed on May 19, 1988. The circuit court granted a stay of execution on June 6, 1988, and ordered an evidentiary hearing which was then conducted on August 8-11, September 1 and October 20, 1988. On March 17, 1989, the circuit court denied Rule 3.850 relief on Mr. Routly's claims and this appeal was taken.

At the evidentiary hearing, evidence was presented showing that an agreement between the State and its key witness, Colleen O'Brien, had been withheld from the defense. The circuit court found as a matter of fact that the State had failed to disclose the following immunity agreement dated July 5, 1980:

#### CONTRACT OF IMMUNITY

It is hereby agreed between the State of Florida, by Gordon G. Oldham, Jr., the State Attorney in and for the Fifth Judicial Circuit by and through his Assistant State Attorney, Jeffrey J. Fitos, and Coleen O'Brien, hereafter referred to as witness, that witness shall be granted immunity from prosecution for her acts related to the alleged murder of Anthony Bockini in Marion County, State of Florida, which alleged murder occurred on or about the 17th day of June, 1979, provided that witness shall comply with and expressly contingent upon

## the following conditions:

- 1. The witness shall testify fully and truthfully under oath, before the State Attorney of the Fifth Judicial Circuit of Florida, his assistant(s), any grand jury in said circuit, in any deposition related to the alleged murder of Anthony Bockini, as provided by Florida Law, at any trial or other proceeding related to the alleged murder of Anthony Bockini (including but not limited to State of Florida -vs- Dan Edward Routly, case number 79-1270, Circuit Court, Marion County), and as otherwise directed by either the State Attorney or his assistant(s), or as directed by any court of the State of Florida.
- 2. That the witness states under oath that the testimony she gave to Sergeant Larry Jerald and Investigator Frank Alioto in Flint, Michigan on the 5th day of December, 1979, at 12:10 p.m., a transcript of which testimony is attached and which testimony the witness has carefully read before execution of this contract was the truth at the time she gave said testimony, is the truth now, and is substantially the testimony she will give under oath in any deposition, court appearance or other matters because it is the truth and correctly depicts what occurred in the alleged murder of Anthony Bockini and that the foregoing and all other conditions of this agreement are individually, severally and jointly conditions that must be entirely complied with by witness before immunity is granted.
- That witness shall voluntarily be taken into custody as a 3. hostile material witness without bond by an officer(s) of the State of Florida to assure her attendance in said State to testify at the trial(s) of Dan Edward Routly or any other proceeding related to the death of Anthony Bockini and any and all depositions, and that witness (if desired by her, along with her minor child) shall remain in custody with the Marion County Sheriff's Department, Marion County, Florida, pending her complete testimony at trial(s) or other proceedings, provided, however, that in regard to the minor child, the witness may elect to have said child remain with witness or not subject to approval by her custodian (Marion County Sheriff's Department). However, the custodian may make any decision it deems appropriate in maintaining custody over witness and this sentence shall be controlling in clause #3 of this contract.
- 4. That witness shall proceed from Portland, Oregon to Ocala, Florida on the 5th day of July, 1980 in the custody of officers of the State of Florida and hereby waives any and all rights to hearing(s) or appearance(s) in any court of any jurisdiction for the purpose of preventing her immediate return to Florida as a hostile material witness or otherwise, and should the witness attempt to leave custody and/or not return to Ocala as directed by the officer(s) of the State of Florida, in whose custody she shall be, she understands that the pending arrest warrant for murder in

the second degree may be served upon her and this contract upon service would be null and void at the sole option of the State Attorney or his assistant(s).

- 5. That witness agrees that any testimony given may be recorded stenographically or mechanically and that witness further agrees to submit to a polygraph examination in the form and before an examiner specified by said State Attorney or his assistant(s) as requested.
- 6. That witness shall personally appear without necessity of service of subpoena at any and all proceedings, hearings, depositions, or trials requested by said State Attorney or his assistant(s) and testify fully and truthfully as to all matters examined.
- 7. Witness hereby waives any and all rights to a speedy trial conferred by Federal and or State Constitutions or Laws and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.191 and fully understands that non-compliance with any condition of this contract will prevent the granting of immunity and subject witness to arrest and trial of witness concerning witness' part (if any) in the alleged murder of Anthony Bockini.
- 8. That should a new trial be required concerning the alleged murder of Anthony Bockini and or in the State of Florida -vs- Dan Edward Routly, the witness shall be bound by this agreement as if the new trial was the initial trial.
- 9. That the witness will not nor will her minor child have any contact with (including but not limited to physical, voice, letter or third party) Dan Edward Routly until released from this clause by the State Attorney or his assistant(s) or as directed by said State Attorney or assistant(s).
- 10. That the witness has consulted with her own privately retained attorney, whose signature appears below, and witness has reviewed all aspects of this agreement with witness' lawyer and upon consideration of his counsel and after carefully reading this agreement, witness did and does voluntarily and knowingly execute this agreement.
- 11. That witness shall also testify on behalf of the State against Dan Edward Routly concerning a charge of Possession of A Firearm By A Convicted Felon.
- 12. That upon completion of witness' testimony and satisfaction of this contract, witness shall be returned by the State of Florida to a destination within the continental United States selected by witness, excluding Alaska.
- 13. That subject to all other conditions of this agreement, immunity will also include criminal conduct which occurred on or before December 5, 1979 in Marion County, State of Florida, and for which criminal conduct the witness is considered a suspect by the Marion County Sheriff's

Department, as of July 5, 1980.

Dated this 5th of July, 1980

GORDON G. OLDHAM, JR., STATE ATTORNEY FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT STATE OF FLORIDA

Jeffrey J. Fitos	
Assistant State Attorne	7

AS TO WITNESS:

Witness Coleen O'Brien

Francis E. Harrington Attorney For Witness

(T. 1787-92). The circuit court's ruling denying relief was premised upon its conclusion that Mr. Routly had failed to demonstrate how this nondisclosure prejudiced his case.<sup>1</sup>

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- I. The State withheld critical exculpatory evidence. This withheld evidence included a contract of immunity, for Calleen O'Brien statments made by Ms. O'Brien expressing here fears that Mr. Routly would convince the State that she did the murder alone, and a letter from Ms. O'Brien refusing to return to testify without full immunity. The circuit court found as a matter of fact that the State did not disclose these materials to the defense. However, it ruled no prejudice had been shown. The later ruling was error of law where the case was a credibility battle between Ms. O'Brien and Mr. Routly and undisclosed evidence constituted significant impeachment of Ms. O'Brien's testimony and motives.
- II. Durint her testimony, Ms. O'Brien made numerous false statements which the prosecutor knew to be false. The prosecutor's failure to correct the false testimony violated due process. The circuit erred in ruling prosecutors need

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Facts regarding other claims presented in the 3.850 will be presented within the corresponding argument.

not correct false testimony.

- III. Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance at sentencing.

  Despite the jury's life recommendation, defense counsel failed to investigate and present the wealth of available mitigation which would have provided a reasonable basis for the recommendation and precluded an override. The circuit court erred in denying relief because he would still have imposed death.
- IV. Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance at the guilt phase. Counsel failed to adequately litigate the voluntariness of Mr. Routly's waiver of extradition and confession to second degree murder. Counsel failed to adequately cross-examine Colleen O'Brien. Counsel in ignorance failed to move for a mistrial when the jury revealed it had been unable to hear parts of Ms. O'Brien's testimony. Mr. Routly's conviction is the resulting prejudice.
- V. The sentencing court erroneously overrode the life recommendation on the basis of the victim's personal characteristics. This violted <u>Booth v.</u>

  Maryland.
- VI. The affirmance of the override by this Court on appeal was arbitrary and capricious and violated <u>Parker v. Dugger</u>.
- VII. Mr. Routly's right to a fair and reliable capital guilt-innocence verdict was violated by the presence of a court official in the jury room fro a substantial portion of the jury deliberations.

#### ARGUMENT I

MR. ROUTLY WAS DENIED AN ADVERSARIAL TESTING. THE STATE SUPPRESSED CRITICAL EXCULPATORY AND IMPEACHMENT EVIDENCE OF ITS STAR WITNESS IN VIOLATION OF MR. ROUTLY'S FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

A criminal defendant is entitled to a fair trial. As the United States Supreme Court has explained:

. . . a fair trial is one which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an impartial tribunal for resolution of issues defined in advance of the proceeding.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984). In order to insure that an adversarial testing, and hence a fair trial, occurs, certain obligations are imposed upon both the prosecutor and defense counsel. The prosecutor is required to disclose to the defense evidence "that is both favorable to the accused and 'material either to guilt or punishment.'" United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 674 (1985), quoting Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963). Defense counsel is obligated "to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process." Strickland, supra.

Here, Mr. Routly was denied a reliable adversarial testing. Coleen O'Brien testified Dan Routly committed the homicide (R. 895). Mr. Routly testified Ms. O'Brien, his pregnant girlfriend, committed the homicide and wanted his help in getting away from the State of Florida (R. 1082). The jury had to decide who to believe. The jury never heard the considerable and compelling evidence regarding Colleen O'Brien's immunity, her failure to honor her previous immunity deal, her demands for more, and her actual misrepresentations on the witness stand to the jury. This was critical information necessary to resolving the credibility battle. Mr. Routly's claim that his rights under due process were violated is undeniably evidenced by the testimony and documentary proof adduced at the evidentiary hearing. Not only were several exculpatory documents -- including the Contract of Immunity (T. 1787-92) between the State and Colleen O'Brien -never turned over to the defense.<sup>2</sup> The inherent prejudice was clearly established through the testimony of Ron Fox and James Burke, Mr. Routly's defense attorneys at trial. Their account is corroborated by the evidentiary hearing and trial record itself. Where the case is a credibility battle between the state's star witness and the defendant, certainly nondisclosure of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In fact, the circuit court found: "The State never delivered the contract of immunity dated 5 July 1980, Defendant's exhibit #11, to Defense Counsel." (T. 1745).

impeachment evidence undermines confidence in the outcome. See Smith v.

Wainwright, 799 F.2d 1442, 1444 (11th Cir. 1986) ("There is a reasonable probability" of a different outcome where conviction rested upon credibility on one witness and jury did not hear evidence undermining that credibility.)

The five page contract of immunity found in the state attorney's but never provided to Mr. Burke or Mr. Fox at the time of Mr. Routly's trial (T. 290, 326), was shown to Mr. Fox at the evidentiary hearing. Mr. Fox identified this as a document that he had seen first immediately before the evidentiary hearing (T. 326). The document was signed on July 5, 1980, shortly before Mr. Routly's trial, and had the signatures of Ms. O'Brien, Officer Jerald, Assistant State Attorney Fitos, Mr. Harrington, and Father O'Brien (a relative of Ms. O'Brien's). At the time of trial, Mr. Fox was "not aware of the existence of this document and it was not provided to me until after Governor Martinez had signed the warrant for Mr. Routly's execution, which was just this past summer." (T. 326). Neither defense counsel had ever seen the Contract of Immunity (T. 1787-92) prior to trial, or the letter from Colleen O'Brien on her attorney's letterhead (T. 1793) ("I refuse to make any statement or give any information which could relate to a prosecution of me, EXCEPTING under a CONTRACT OF IMMUNITY."), or Captain Hanna's affidavit regarding his diligent efforts to locate Ms. O'Brien as a witness for trial and his belief she was hiding (T. 1802-03)("[O'Brien] is afraid that she will be charged with the murder and that DAN EDWARD ROUTLY will testify that she perpetrated the murder alone, and further that she does not intend to run for the rest of her life."). documents resulted from the State's efforts to secure Ms. O'Brien's presence and testimony at Mr. Routly's trial. When presented with these documents during the evidentiary hearing, defense counsel Burke stated:

They indicated the difficulties that the State had in locating her in the affidavit of diligent effort. They indicated that she was represented by counsel. They indicated that she had a lengthy immunity agreement with the State that she had negotiated through her attorney.

(T. 291). As to the potential value of these documents, Mr. Burke testified:

In my opinion, they would have been extremely useful. Anytime you cross examine a witness that has an interest in the outcome and you can demonstrate it, it would be the crux of your cross examination. You would generally begin with it, go through the terms of the agreement and then you end high and take the document and maybe flick it or something and say: And isn't this the reason that you're here testifying today in this case against my client.

(T. 292).

Mr. Burke stated that Colleen O'Brien was the "singular most important witness for the State" (T. 293), and without the documents, Mr. Fox was unable to effectively impeach and confront her. Mr. Burke explained that the immunity agreement was a "very comprehensive immunity agreement" and had it been brought to the attention of the jury "certainly would have impressed the jury that perhaps there was some funny business" (T. 301). Mr. Burke noted that the contract of immunity was signed on July 5, 1980, the deposition of Colleen O'Brien was taken on July 9, 1980, and Mr. Routly's trial was held on July 14, 1980 (T. 303). The agreement thus was in effect well before the deposition and before the trial -- it was nevertheless not turned over to the defense.

When asked to look at the undisclosed documents to determine their potential usefulness, defense counsel Fox explained:

I can only say that the contract of immunity which is really the culmination of all the information contained or suggested in these other documents, would be like finding gold in this case.

(T. 336). Mr. Fox had never seen an immunity agreement this complete:

This is -- you couldn't beat one of these out of the State Attorney with a stick now. I mean, this is -- this not only grants her immunity for this incident, this grants her immunity for -- effectively grants her immunity for charges in other jurisdictions. it grants her complete immunity for anything she might have ever done prior to the date of this document in the State of Florida or, at least, in Marion County.

It's been referred to . . . as the supersaver contract of immunity and it's very definitely that.

(T. 338). Mr. Fox then detailed how he would have been able to use this agreement in cross-examination of Colleen O'Brien:

A I would start out by questioning her about her first agreement, how she dropped from sight and then how they recontacted her, made a trip out to find -- to see her out in Oregon, all the lengths that the State went to to accommodate Colleen O'Brien.

And then the introductory part of the contract says that she will be granted immunity from prosecution for her acts related to the murder of Anthony Bockini.

My first question becomes what acts, Miss O'Brien, did you do in the murder of Anthony Bockini and --

\* \* \*

A Okay. And then say: Well, what acts did you do in the murder of Anthony Bockini and then either she says: Well, I did A,B, C and D, which arguably makes her an accomplice or a participant or else she says: Nothing, in which case I say: Well, why would the State Attorney go to all this trouble to give you immunity for something that you didn't do, thereby either undermining her credibility or the prosecution's, whoever.

Then, also in the first paragraph under there, it says that she will testify truthfully and fully at any trial or other proceeding related to the murder of Anthony Bockini, including but not limited to the case of the State of Florida vs. Dan Routly.

And then it goes on to say: as otherwise directed, which I previously talked about. I would suggest to -- by my questions that as otherwise directed meant that she was under the exclusive domination and control of the State Attorney, that for her to get the benefit of this bargain, she had to say what he directed her to say.

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