IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

APR 29 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

DAN EDWARD ROUTLY,

Appellant,

ν.

CASE NO. 73,963

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 300179

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

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

POINT V

THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DENIAL OF RELIEF, AS TO ROUTLY'S PROCEDURALLY BARRED CLAIM BASED ON BOOTH v. MARYLAND, 482 U.S. 496, 107 S.CT. 2529, 96 L.Ed.2d 440 (1987), WAS NOT ERROR

In this claim, collateral counsel contends that Routly's sentence of death must be vacated, because Judge Angel allegedly considered improper "victim impact" evidence, contrary to Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed.2d 440 (1987), in overriding the jury's recommendation; specifically, in the sentencing findings relating to the homicide having been heinous, atrocious and cruel, the judge had observed that the victim had been an elderly retiree who had done volunteer work (OR 183). Collateral counsel maintains that this Court's decision in Jackson v. Dugger, 547 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1989), excuses the lack of contemporaneous objection, and renders this claim cognizable on 3.850 (Initial Brief at 73). In his order below, Judge Angel did, indeed, find this claim procedurally barred, but also made an alternative ruling on the merits (PCR 1380-1381). Such ruling should be affirmed in all respects.

As to the issue of procedural bar, it is difficult to see why Routly relies upon Jackson v. Dugger. In such opinion, this Court reviewed, on habeas corpus, a contention based upon Booth; this Court explained its decision to do so, noting that the claim involving "victim impact" had, in fact, been raised earlier and rejected on direct appeal. Inasmuch as this is not a habeas corpus action, and inasmuch as Routly has never raised any comparable claim on appeal, Jackson obviously lacks application sub judice. See also Parker v. Dugger, 550 So.2d 459, 460 (Fla.

1989) (distinguishing Jackson on such basis). Further, to the extent that collateral counsel contends that contemporaneous objection is not necessary in cases involving jury overrides, where the claim of error focuses upon the written sentencing order, it must be noted that this Court has conclusively rejected such contention in at least two prior cases. See, e.g., Engle v. Dugger, 16 F.L.W. S123 (Fla. January 15, 1991); Porter v. Dugger, 559 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1990). In Engle, this Court noted the lack of objection, and further observed, ". . . judges are trained to render their decisions without regard to impermissible evidence." In Parker, the defendant contended that he was Id. at S125. entitled to relief under Booth, because in the sentencing order wherein the judge had explained his reasons for overriding the jury's recommendation, the judge had noted, "It so happens that Raleigh Porter was tried by a Judge that has a lot more sympathy for the feelings of the victims than he does worry about the sensibilities of the murderer." Porter, 559 So.2d at 202, n.3. This Court found the claim procedurally barred, and likewise found no violation of Booth. This claim is clearly procedurally barred, on the basis of Porter and Engle.

Even if it were not, Routly would be entitled to no relief.

In the order below, Judge Angel also found:

Inasmuch as a proper basis exists for the all five aggravating of circumstances, this Court's reference to the victim in this case, as a retired widower who devoted his retirement years to volunteer community service, can be regarded as mere surplusage, as such factors did not enter into this Court's decision to override the sentence recommendation to ordefendant to death.

(PCR 1381).

Collateral counsel, who nowhere acknowledge the existence of this finding, has clearly failed to demonstrate any basis for relief.

POINT_VI

THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DENIAL OF RELIEF, AS TO ROUTLY'S PROCEDURALLY BARRED CLAIM BASED ON THE PROPRIETY OF THE JURY OVERRIDE, WAS NOT ERROR

Routly filed his original 3.850 motion in this case on January 2, 1987, and, with leave of court, twice amended such, on June 22, 1987, and on May 23, 1988, respectively (PCR 910-956, 957-1001, 1304-1313). In the first amended motion, Routly raised a claim of error to the effect that the jury's recommendation of life "should not have been overridden" and would not have been "but for" the State's alleged suppression of evidence, defense counsel's alleged ineffectiveness and "the trial court's consideration of improper factors"; the allegedly improper factors considered were an alleged presumption that death was the proper sentence, due to the automatic finding of an aggravating circumstance based upon felony murder, as well as the court's allegedly improper consideration of confidential psychological evaluations (PCR 982-999). In its response, filed June 2, 1988, the State contended, inter alia, that any renewed attack upon the propriety of the jury override was procedurally barred, as was Routly's claim involving the sentencer's alleged consideration of improper matters (PCR 1349-1351). In his order denying relief, Judge Angel found, inter alia, that certain portions of this claim had already been presented on appeal, or other collateral

proceedings, and denied (PCR 1746). Appellee suggests that the circuit court's denial of relief as to this claim was correct, and should be affirmed.

Appellee would initially point out, however, that the version of this claim now presented on appeal is not identical to that raised below. The claim does, indeed, repeat the contention that Judge Angel applied an unlawful "presumption" in overriding the jury's recommendation, although this presumption is now one involving the shifting of the burden of proof onto the defense to prove that life is the appropriate penalty (Initial Brief at 79). Likewise, the claim does also seek to relitigate the propriety of the override, due to collateral counsel's belief that the recent decision, Parker v. Dugger, U.S. ___, 111 S.Ct. 731, 112 L.Ed.2d 812 (1991), "was a reversal of this Court's prior holdings that an affirmance of an override in (sic) law of the case and not subject to collateral review." (Initial Brief at 78); Parker, of course, had not been rendered while this case was still pending in the circuit court, and, indeed, was decided during the eighteen (18) months in which collateral counsel prepared the Initial Brief in this appeal. Collateral counsel has, however, also seemingly added a new claim, which was never presented to the court below. Thus, on appeal, collateral counsel contends for the first time, "The judge did not consider the nonstatutory mitigation in the record, nonstatutory mitigation which formed an eminently reasonable basis for the jury's recommendation of life." (Initial Brief at 79) (emphasis in original). Appellee will address this latter contention first.

The State would contend that the above claim bears suspicious resemblance to one alleging a violation of Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393, 107 S.Ct. 1821, 95 L.Ed.2d 347 (1987); Hitchcock is, in fact, cited elsewhere in that point on appeal (Initial Brief at 74, 78). If such is, indeed, the case, Appellee would strongly urge this Court to find any claim in this regard procedurally barred, for a number of reasons. It is, of course, axiomatic that a claim of error cannot be asserted on appeal which has not, previously, been presented to the lower court for consideration. See, e.g., State v. Barber, 301 So.2d 7, 9 (Fla. 1974). This principle is applicable to 3.850 appeals filed by those under sentence of death. See, e.g., Doyle v. State, 526 So.2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988) (point on appeal procedurally barred because it was not presented to the trial court in [defendant's] Rule 3.850 motion and could not be raised for the first time on appeal.). The record clearly indicates that Judge Angel was never on any notice that collateral counsel believed that his consideration of mitigating circumstances had been limited to those in the statute; indeed, the entire focus of Routly's presentation below was that trial counsel ineffective, because he had failed to introduce nonstatutory mitigation so that the judge could consider it. See Point III, infra. It is undisputably this Court's intention that Hitchcock claims be presented initially to the circuit court. See Hall v. State, 541 So.2d 1125, 1128 (Fla. 1989). Because, just as undisputably, such was not done sub judice, and because Appellant is seemingly seeking to raise a claim of such nature for the

first time on appeal, any such claim must be found procedurally To hold otherwise would reward "sandbagging" of the barred. highest, or lowest, order. Cf. Maggard v. State, 399 So.2d 973, 975 (Fla. 1981) (defendant could not withhold claim of error and "sandbag" trial court, by raising claim initially on appeal); Ferry v. State, 507 So.2d 1373, 1375 (Fla. 1987) (allowing appellant to raise matter concerning his voluntary absence for the first time on appeal "would promote deliberate sandbagging."). 12

Turning to the other matters presented, the State likewise maintains its position that any "burden-shifting" claim, especially one with a new basis, is procedurally barred. This is clearly a matter which could and should have been raised on direct appeal; indeed, in the prior habeas corpus action in this case, Routly v. Wainwright, 502 So.2d 901 (Fla. 1987), Routly contended that appellate counsel had rendered ineffective

This result is not unduly harsh, given the fact that Routly has twice amended his 3.850 motion following rendition of the Hitchcock claim, and has never added any claim of this nature. Additionally, it must be noted that this Court held in Adams v. State, 543 So.2d 1244, 1246-1247 (Fla. 1989), that all 3.850 claims for relief based upon Hitchcock had to be filed on or by June 30, 1989. Cf. Mills v. Dugger, 574 So.2d 63, 64, n.1 (Fla. 1990) (untimely Hitchcock claim procedurally barred). Hitchcock claim sub judice is barred on such additional basis, as well. Finally, Appellee would simply note that both attorney Fox and Judge Angel were unquestionably aware of Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 98 S.Ct. 2954, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978), inasmuch as Fox filed a motion attacking the constitutionality of §921.141 on such basis (OR 18-23); Judge Angel denied such motion, following argument by counsel, immediately prior to trial (OR 427-430). Additionally, in the sentencing order in this case, Judge Angel found that no mitigating circumstances existed, "statutory or otherwise." (OR 185). Any Hitchcock error would, in any event, have been harmless, given, inter alia, the weight of the valid aggravating circumstances sub judice.

assistance by failing to litigate this very matter (See Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, filed in Routly v Wainwright, Florida Supreme Court Case No. 69,089, on July 25, 1986, at pages 57-60). This Court has, in any event, consistently regarded claims of nature procedurally barred, when first presented collateral attack. See, e.g., Engle, supra (claim procedurally barred, in jury override case); Kight v. Dugger, 574 So.2d 1066, 1072 (Fla. 1990) (claim in regard to judge's application of improper standard procedurally barred); Roberts v. State, 568 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 1990) (same); Correll v. Dugger, 558 So.2d 422, 427, n.6 (Fla. 1990) (same); Hill v. Dugger, 556 So.2d 1385 (Fla. This portion of the claim is procedurally barred, 1990) (same). and, even if it were not, this Court would seem to have rejected a virtually identical argument, premised upon language in a comparable sentencing order. See Hamblen v. Dugger, 546 So.2d 1039, 1041 (Fla. 1989).

Finally, as to collateral counsel's attempt to relitigate the propriety of the jury override itself, Appellee maintains its position that this claim is procedurally barred. It would seem that virtually every one of those inmates whose sentences of death have arisen out of a jury override, and whose sentences have been affirmed by this Court on direct appeal, have sought to relitigate such matter on collateral attack; this Court has uniformly applied its procedural bar. See, e.g., Dobbert v. State, 409 So.2d 1053, 1058 (Fla. 1982); Buford, supra; Burr v. State, 518 So.2d 903, 905 (Fla. 1987); Johnson v. Dugger, 523 So.2d 161, 162 (Fla. 1988) (applying "law of the case"); Eutzy v.

State, 536 So.2d 1014, 1015 (Fla. 1988); Mills v. Dugger, 559 So.2d 578, 579 (Fla. 1990); Porter v. Dugger, supra; Engle, supra. Whereas Parker v. Dugger is, of course, a decision of the United States Supreme Court, and, hence, eligible for retroactive application on 3.850, see Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980), there is no indication that any such retroactivity is intended or that Parker's holding would have any application sub Appellee is respectfully unable to determine the judice. presence of any "new law" in the holding of Parker or to divine any intention on the part of the nation's highest court that this Court revisit its affirmance of every single death sentence arising out of a jury override. A careful reading of Parker indicates that the fact that Parker's sentence of death had arisen out of a jury override had absolutely nothing to do with the Court's holding. Rather, the Court found, on the basis of the specific facts of the case before it, that this Court, after striking two aggravating circumstances on appeal, had failed to take into account the presence of mitigation, in its harmless error analysis. Parker, 111 S.Ct. at 740. Inasmuch as this Court affirmed all of the aggravating circumstances at issue sub judice, Routly, 440 So.2d at 1262-1265, Parker obviously has no application to the case at bar. Accordingly, collateral counsel's invitation to this Court to revisit its prior holding must be rejected, and this entire claim is procedurally barred. The circuit court's denial of relief should be affirmed in all respects.

POINT VII

THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DENIAL OF RELIEF, AS TO ROUTLY'S PROCEDURALLY BARRED CLAIM BASED ON THE PRESENCE OF A COURT OFFICIAL IN THE JURY ROOM, WAS NOT ERROR

Saving the most frivolous claim for last, collateral counsel finally contends that Routly is entitled to a new trial, due to the fact that the court reporter was allowed to play a tape recording for the jury in the jury room. This action was taken pursuant to the jury's request, and, indeed, it was attorney Fox's idea that the court reporter be the one to perform this act (OR 1188); surprisingly, there is no allegation that attorney Fox rendered ineffective assistance in making this suggestion, and, at the hearing below, attorney Fox omitted this action from his recitation of his many other alleged failings. In any event, collateral counsel now contends that obvious improprieties occurred, in that that the tape which was played only lasts twelve minutes, whereas the record indicates that the court reporter was in the jury room for twenty minutes (OR 1189) (Initial Brief at 81). Judge Angel found this claim procedurally barred, as representing a matter which should have been raised on appeal; he alternatively noted counsel's role in this entire proceeding, and found any allegation of prejudice to be totally speculative (PCR 1381).

Collateral counsel apparently concede the correctness of the circuit court's finding of procedural bar, in that they nowhere discuss or dispute it. Such finding would seem to be undeniably correct. Cf. McCrae v. State, 437 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 1983) (matters which should have been raised on direct appeal not

cognizable on 3.850); Cave, supra (same). As to the merits, in the alternative, it is difficult to take this claim seriously, inasmuch as such would seem to be grounded solely upon paranoid speculation. Routly has made no showing that the "eight minute gap" in this case did not result from the fact that, upon entering the jury room, it was necessary for the court reporter to set up the tape machine, load the tape into it, push the play button, sit down in a chair, rewind the tape at the conclusion of its play, remove the tape from the tape machine, pack the tape machine back up, and exit the jury room. No doubt had the unfortunate court reporter been aware, eight years ago, this his every action would be subject to such strict scrutiny, and suspicion, at this juncture, he would have made more of a contemporaneous record. His failure to do so hardly entitles Routly to a new trial. No relief is warranted as to the ludicrous, procedurally barred claim.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, for the aforementioned reasons, the circuit court's denial of Routly's 3.850 motion should be affirmed in all respects.